THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-001932

RECEIVED

OCT 16 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

South Carolina Insurance Reserve Fund,
Respondent,

v.

East Richland County Public Service District and Coley
Brown, Defendants,

Of Whom East Richland County Public Service District is
the Petitioner,

And Coley Brown is a Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER
EAST RICHLAND COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT

Scott Elliott
Elliott & Elliott, P.A.
1508 Lady Street
Columbia, SC 29201
Telephone: 803-771-0555
Facsimile: 803-771-8010
Email: selliott@elliottlaw.us

Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Was the insurance policy exclusion relied upon by the Respondent Fund to deny coverage of the allegations of the underlying action void because it conflicts with the statutory coverage provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act?**

- II. Did the policy exclusion relieve the Respondent Fund from the duty to defend and to indemnify the Petitioner in the underlying action?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was brought by the South Carolina Insurance Reserve Fund (“Fund” or “Respondent Fund”) to determine whether or not it owed a duty to defend or a duty to indemnify the Petitioner East Richland County Public Service District (“Petitioner”) with respect to the underlying civil action captioned *Brown v. East Richland County Public Service District* CA No. 2010-CP-40-5616 (“2010 Action” or “underlying action”).

The Circuit Court issued its order September 9, 2013 holding that the Respondent Fund did not owe a duty to defend or a duty to indemnify the Petitioner in the underlying action. The Circuit Court granted the Respondent Fund’s Motion for Summary Judgment and denied the Petitioner’s Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed the Petitioner’s Counterclaim with prejudice. By order dated March 4, 2014, the Circuit Court denied the Petitioner’s post trial motion. On March 23, 2016 the Court of Appeals issued its opinion affirming the order of the Circuit Court. The Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing by order filed August 18, 2016.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Petitioner is a special purpose district organized under state law to provide sanitary sewer service to northeast Richland County. Petitioner collects, transports, and treats raw sewage through approximately 400 miles of sewer lines serving approximately 18,000 customers under the authority of an NPDES discharge permit issued by the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”). (R. p. 1; R. p. 79, ll. 20-25).

As a part of a 2000 construction project, the Petitioner constructed a force main running beneath Westshore Road in the vicinity of the Respondent Coley Brown's ("Brown") residence. The force main (like all force mains) was designed and constructed with air relief valves at intervals to control the air pressure within the force main when the sewage is pumped through the line. When pumping stations begin to pump the sewage through the lines, the air relief valve operates to relieve pressure in the sewer line and remains open until the pumps stop at which point the valve closes. The valve operates instantaneously once the pressure within the line has built to sufficient force and closes just as quickly once the pressure in the line has been relieved. The system is required to have air relief valves because the pressure must be released to prevent an explosion damaging the force main. (R. p. 2; R. p. 84, l. 23 – p. 85, l. 8). The force main was designed to meet industry standards and was approved by DHEC. The air released from the air relief valves may be odorous. Any odors from the system are released when the pumps first operate and the odors dissipate as the system continues to run. There is not a continuous odor while the pumps are operating. The release of the air and any resulting odor when the pumps begin is sudden. It is not possible to anticipate or predict when the valves will open or close. (R. p. 2; 2013 Order p. 2; R. p. 83, l. 11 – p. 84, l. 6; R. p. 85, ll. 21 – 24; Tr. p. 18, l. 11 – p. 19, l. 6; p. 20 ll. 21 – 24).

Sewage contains hydrogen sulfide which has a rotten egg smell. Methane gas is also found in sewage but it is generally odorless. Neither hydrogen sulfide, methane gas nor other component parts of the rotten egg odor are regulated by DHEC as part of the Petitioner's NPDES discharge permit. (R. p. 2; 2013 Order, p. 2; R. p. 91, l. 11 – p. 93, l. 6; R. p. 83, l. 14 – p. 95, l. 15; Tr. p. 26, l. 11 – p. 28, l. 6; p. 28, l. 14 – p. 30, l. 15). All of the components of the odors are

natural byproducts of raw sewage and are not harmful or toxic to the public when released into the atmosphere. (R. p. 44). The rotten egg odor from hydrogen sulfide can be emitted from air relief valves, manhole covers and faulty customer plumbing. (R. p. 2; 2013 Order, p. 2; R. p. 91, l. 24 – p. 92, l. 24; Tr. p. 26, l. 24 - p. 27, l. 24; R. p. 93, l. 14 – p. 95, l. 15; Tr. p. 28, l. 14 – p. 30, l. 15).

Petitioner's personnel who responded to the complaints of odor were not able to smell any odors when they arrived, except when standing directly over the manhole where it is expected to detect an odor of raw sewage. (R. pp. 2-3; 2013 Order, pp. 2-3; R. p. 86, ll. 8-25; Tr. p. 21, ll. 8-25).

To reduce the possibility of odors, the Petitioner injected chlorine into the force main from its Percival Road pump station which was met with success. The chlorine reduced the odors and the complaints stopped. However, chlorine is corrosive and was beginning to damage the Petitioner's equipment. (R. p. 88, ll. 1-16; Tr. p. 23, ll. 1-16). Subsequently, the Petitioner took steps to mask the odors by installing charcoal filters or other chemical media in the manholes containing the air relief valves. Again, the filters initially succeeded in eliminating the odors, but again, the filters did not completely eliminate the release of odors into the air. Subsequently, the Petitioner had one or two complaints of odor. (R. p. 88, ll. 14-22; Tr. p. 23, ll. 14-22; R. p. 88, l. 24 – p. 89, l. 10; Tr. p. 23, l. 24 – p. 24, l. 10).

In May 2010, the Petitioner modified the air relief valve in the vicinity of the property owned by the Respondent Brown to direct the pressure released into a nearby gravity sewer line. This effort appears to have resolved any issue concerning the release of odors from the air relief valve and complaints of odors have stopped. With each effort to eliminate or mask the odors

alleged, the Petitioner expected that the odors would have ceased. (R. p. 3; 2013 Order, p. 3; R. p. 96, l. 25 – p. 97, l. 1; Tr. p. 31, l. 25 – p. 32, l. 1).

In 2010, Brown filed his action against the Petitioner alleging causes of action for negligence, trespass and inverse condemnation. The Complaint alleges that an air relief valve on the Petitioner's sewage force main installed under Westshore Road where Brown resides gave off offensive odors over a period of years and that the continuous or repeated exposure to offensive odors deprived Brown of the use and enjoyment of his property. (R. p. 1; 2013 Order, p. 1; R. pp. 22-23; Complaint at pp. 2-3). The underlying action is the only lawsuit ever brought alleging offensive odors emitted from the Petitioner's 400 miles of sewer lines. (R. p. 97, l. 25 – p. 98, l. 3; Tr. p. 32, l. 25 – p. 33, l. 3).

The Petitioner was insured by the Respondent Fund at all times relevant to the allegations of the complaint. After service of Brown's complaint, the Petitioner tendered the matter to the Respondent Fund to defend it under the terms of the insurance policy issued by the Respondent Fund. Historically, the Respondent Fund has construed its policy to provide insurance coverage for the release or discharge of raw sewage and offensive odors onto property causing property damage. The discharge in such cases may consist of raw sewage and other items from the sewer system as well as any offensive odors given off by raw sewage. However, the Respondent Fund denied coverage of the allegations of Brown's complaint. (R. p. 3; 2013 Order, p. 3; R. p. 98, l. 4 – p. 99, l. 6; Tr. p. 33, l. 4 - p. 35, l. 6).

ARGUMENT I

THE INSURANCE POLICY EXCLUSION RELIED UPON BY THE RESPONDENT FUND TO DENY COVERAGE OF THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE UNDERLYING ACTION IS VOID BECAUSE IT CONFLICTS WITH THE COVERAGE PROVISIONS OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA TORT CLAIMS ACT.

The Supreme Court's decisions in Hogan v. Home Insurance Company, 260 S.C. 157, 194 S.E.2d 890 (1973) and its progeny hold that if a provision of an insurance policy conflicts with State statute, the statute controls. The exclusionary provision of the insurance policy issued to the Petitioner by the Respondent Fund upon which it relies to deny coverage of the tort allegations of the complaint in the underlying action conflicts with the requirements of the Tort Claims Act and is therefore void.

Harmless odors are given off by human waste. Knowing that the Petitioner's sanitary sewer operations were associated with the unpleasant odors, the Respondent Fund issued a policy to the Petitioner as required by the Tort Claims Act and has accepted its premium payments. The Respondent Fund has provided coverage for claims for sewage spills and the offensive odors associated with sewer spills. However, relying upon the policy pollution exclusion the Respondent Fund has reversed course and denied coverage here.¹

South Carolina has waived the doctrine of sovereign immunity. The Petitioner, as any

¹ The Circuit Court upheld the Respondent Fund's denial of coverage based on the "pollution exclusion" which reads:

(f) to personal injury or property damage arising out of the discharge, dispersal, release or escape of smoke, vapors, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, toxic chemicals, liquids or gases, waste materials or other irritant, contaminants or pollutants into or upon land, the atmosphere or any water course or body of water; but this exclusion does not apply if such discharge, dispersal, release or escape is sudden and accidental;

other public entity, is required to obtain insurance to protect itself against liability for claims brought under the Tort Claims Act. S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-78-140(b). The mandate for coverage not only protects the political subdivision and the citizens it serves by providing a fund from which to pay tort liability claims, but also protects claimants by ensuring that the public entity has the financial ability to pay its obligations under the Act. Insurance may be purchased from the Budget and Control Board, from a private carrier, from a pooled self-insurance liability fund or the political subdivision may self-insure. Id.

The Budget and Control Board (now the State Fiscal Accountability Authority) is required to provide insurance “so as to protect the State against tort liability and to protect these personnel against tort liability arising in the course of their employment.” S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-11-140. S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-11-140(C) provides that the procurement of insurance as provided for in S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-11-140 “is the exclusive means for the procurement of this insurance.” If the Petitioner procures its tort liability insurance, automobile liability insurance or its property and casualty insurance from the Budget and Control Board, it must procure all such coverage from the Budget and Control Board. S.C. Code Ann. Sections 1-11-140, 15-78-140. In those cases, the Budget and Control Board becomes its insureds’ exclusive carrier for tort claims. S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-78-140(b)(2). Having the obligation for providing all liability coverage for tort liability claims made against the Petitioner, the Budget and Control Board may not limit the protections available to the Petitioner under the Act by limiting coverage otherwise required by statute. Hogan v. Home Insurance Company, 260 S.C. 157, 194 S.E.2d 890 (1973). The Budget and Control Board must provide insurance as required by statute. The policy exclusion conflicts with the Tort Claims Act and is void.

Assuming for the sake of argument that the Respondent Fund is authorized to issue policies in certain instances which exclude coverage for pollution, the record fails to provide authority justifying the application of the pollution exclusion in the instant case. Citing Pennsylvania National Mutual Insurance Company, v. Parker, 282 S.C. 546, 320 S.E.2d 48 (Ct. App. 1984), the Court of Appeals held that insurers have the right to limit their liability provided the limitations are not in contravention of some statutory inhibition or public policy. The statutory policy set by the Tort Claims Act is to promote insurance coverage for tort actions against the State and its subdivisions and the pollution exclusion in the instant action violates statutory policy. Moreover, the pollution exclusion does not advance a legitimate statutory policy. The record is devoid of any statutory or public policy interest sufficient to justify construing the pollution exclusion to defeat coverage of the allegations of the complaint. The Respondent Fund's policy must be read to provide coverage for the allegations of the complaint for which sovereign immunity has been waived.

The State has waived the doctrine of sovereign immunity for torts and has required the State and its political subdivisions to procure insurance to cover those risks for which immunity has been waived. The Respondent Fund has issued a liability policy to the Petitioner to insure against torts waived by the Tort Claims Act. The complaint in the underlying action alleges torts for which immunity has been waived. The exclusionary provision of the insurance policy issued to the Petitioner by the Respondent Fund upon which it relies to deny coverage of the tort allegations of the complaint in the underlying action conflicts with the requirements of the Tort Claims Act and is therefore void.

ARGUMENT II

THE POLICY EXCLUSION DOES NOT RELIEVE RESPONDENT FUND FROM THE DUTY TO DEFEND AND TO INDEMNIFY THE PETITIONER IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION.

Applicability of the Pollution Exclusion

Citing City of Hartsville v. S.C. Mun. Ins. & Risk Fin. Fund, 382 S.C. 535, 677 S.E. 2d 574 (2009), the Court of Appeals correctly reasoned that if the underlying complaint and those facts known to the carrier create a possibility of coverage, the insurer is obligated to provide coverage. The Respondent Fund does not argue that the complaint fails to allege an occurrence covered under the policy. Instead, the Respondent Fund argues, and the Court of Appeals so held, that the terms of the pollution exclusion relieve the Respondent Fund from the obligation to defend and indemnify the Petitioner against the allegations.

As held by the Court of Appeals, the carrier has the burden of demonstrating the applicability of the pollution exclusion. However, the Respondent Fund offered no evidence on the issue and the Court of Appeals, in effect, shifted the burden to the Petitioner as insured to demonstrate that the odors in question were not in the nature of pollution as defined by the policy pollution exclusion.

The Tort Claims Act promotes coverage. Courts have uniformly held that where a clause in an insurance policy is one of inclusion, it should be broadly construed while clauses of exclusion are to be narrowly interpreted. McPherson v. Michigan Mutual Ins. Co., 310 S.C. 316, 426 S.E.2d 770 (1993). Exclusionary clauses must be reasonable. Pennsylvania National Mutual

Insurance Company, v. Parker, supra. Instead of offering evidence to justify the application of the pollution exclusion to the allegations of the complaint, the Respondent Fund simply argues that the laundry list of pollutants in the pollution exception is broad enough to ensnare allegations of offensive odors. Neither public policy nor reason would justify an exclusionary clause defeating coverage of allegations of odors that may be unpleasant or offensive. The pollution exclusion excludes coverage for “...discharge, dispersal, release or escape of ...fumes...gases...or **other irritant, contaminants or pollutants** into... the atmosphere...”

[Emphasis added] The clear meaning of the highlighted language compels the conclusion that the release must be harmful, not simply unpleasant or offensive. The offensive odors alleged in the complaint may be caused by naturally occurring gases, but the record is clear that the odors are not harmful. The dictionary definitions of fumes and gases fail to justify any statutory or public policy served by excluding coverage of the allegations of the complaint. The pollution exclusion has the extraordinary impact of denying coverage for the allegations of the complaint which would otherwise be covered by the policy, subjecting the public to financial risk. The offensive odors alleged in the complaint were just that—odors. Accordingly, the pollution exclusion fails to relieve the Respondent Fund of its obligation to provide coverage of the allegations of harmless odors in the complaint.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals overlooked that all of the case law from other jurisdictions cited as support for its decision that odors are pollution, involved allegations that the odors were toxic and harmful. (See Reply Brief of Petitioner at pp. 7-8).

Society may treat odors from human waste as unpleasant or offensive, but the record is devoid of any evidence justifying the exclusion of coverage of allegations arising from offensive

odors under the pollution exclusion provision of the Respondent Fund's policy. Accordingly, construing the policy in favor of coverage and the pollution exclusion narrowly, the offensive odors alleged in the complaint did not constitute pollution as defined by the Respondent Fund policy.

Applicability of the Exception to the Pollution Exclusion

The Supreme Court decision in Greenville County v. Insurance Reserve Fund, 313 S.C. 546, 443 S.E. 2d. 552 (1994) compels the conclusion that the Respondent Fund has the obligation to defend the underlying action.

In Greenville County v. Insurance Reserve Fund, the Supreme Court characterized the complaints in that action to "allege contamination through dumping of hazardous waste and chemicals in the landfill" over a period from 1960 to 1972. Construing an exception to a pollution exclusion identical to that in the instant case, the Supreme Court in Greenville County v. Insurance Reserve Fund, held that the twelve year process of dumping of hazardous waste and chemicals into the landfill was sudden and accidental within the meaning of the exception to the pollution exclusion requiring the Respondent Fund to provide coverage for the lawsuits brought seeking damages for the pollution. Accepting for the sake of argument the Court of Appeals characterization of the offensive odors as pollution, the Supreme Court decision in Greenville County v. Insurance Reserve Fund is controlling.

The decision in Helena Chemical Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co., 357 S.C. 631, 594 S.E. 2d 455 (2004) provides no support for the opinion of the Court of Appeals. The Court in Helena Chemical Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co., expressly stated that the chemical company failed to offer any evidence that the release of the pollution was sudden and accidental.

Helena Chemical Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co., 594 S.E. 2d at 462. Here, the record is replete with evidence, much of it undisputed, that the release of odors was sudden and accidental within the meaning of the policy. Cf. Greenville County v. Insurance Reserve Fund.

The public policy advanced by the Tort Claims Act favors coverage. The allegations of the complaint, the evidence of record, and applicable case law compel the conclusion that the allegations of offensive odors was covered by the Respondent Fund policy. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the Circuit Court holding that the pollution exclusion relieved the Respondent Fund from its duty to defend and to indemnify the Petitioner in the underlying action. Greenville County v. Insurance Reserve Fund.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons and those set out in the Briefs of Appellant before the Court of Appeals, the Petitioner East Richland Public Service District submits that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the judgment of the Circuit Court in favor of the Respondent Fund. The Petitioner respectfully submits that the Court of Appeals be reversed and the Respondent Fund be ordered to defend and indemnify the Appellant in the action captioned Brown v. East Richland Public Service District, Civil Action No. 2010-CP-40-5616.