THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court.

RECEIVED

NOV 17 2017

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-001932
Lower Court Case No. 2011-CP-40-2096

RECEIVED

NOV 17 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

South Carolina Insurance Reserve Fund,

Respondent,

v.

East Richland County Public Service District
and Coley Brown, are

Defendants,

of Whom, East Richland County Public Service District, is

Petitioner,

and Coley Brown, is

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA INSURANCE RESERVE FUND

Andrew F. Lindemann
DAVIDSON & LINDEMANN, P.A.
1611 Devonshire Drive
Post Office Box 8568
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

³ If Section 1-11-140(c) were construed to apply to political subdivisions, then the provision would obviously be in conflict with Section 15-78-140(b), which gives political subdivisions four separate options for procuring tort liability insurance, as discussed above. In that case, Section 15-78-140(b) would control as it is well settled that "later legislation takes precedence over earlier legislation." *Langley v. Pierce*, 313 S.C. 401, 438 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1993). Section 1-11-140(c) pre-dated the 1986 enactment of the Tort Claims Act. In addition, and perhaps more importantly, Section 1-11-140(b) provides that a political subdivision may procure tort liability insurance "in the same manner provided for the procurement of this insurance for the State, its entities, and its employees, or in a manner provided by Section 15-78-140." *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-140(b). Thus, that is an explicit recognition in Section 1-11-140 that political subdivisions have options and are not required to procure insurance from the IRF.

from other sources including private insurance if it wishes to have broader coverage than available under the IRF Tort Liability Policy. Moreover, the District also has the ability to procure specialty coverages from other sources through the IRF, which is something that the District has not elected to do.

As the Court of Appeals and Judge Lee both recognized, there is no statute that precludes the IRF from implementing policy exclusions such as the pollution exclusion at issue. When the Tort Claims Act was initially enacted in 1986, it included Section 15-78-140(a), which read as follows: "It is the duty of the Budget and Control Board to cover risks for which immunity has been waived under the provisions of this chapter by the purchase of insurance as authorized in Section 15-78-150." *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-140(a) (repealed). However, in 1997, the General Assembly repealed that statute. *See*, 1997 Act No. 155, Part II, § 55(E). The title to Section 55 states the General Assembly's intent "to delete the duty of the Board to purchase insurance to cover risks for which immunity has been waived." *See*, 1997 Act No. 155, Part II, § 55. In short, the General Assembly, by repealing Section 15-78-140(a), stated its intent that the IRF does not have a duty to cover every risk for which sovereign immunity has been waived. With the repeal of Section 15-78-140(a), there is clearly no "mandate for coverage" as the District claims. The IRF may include exclusions in its policies, including the pollution

exclusion at issue in this case.⁴ There is no statute that bars the IRF from excluding coverage for pollution.

As further support for that conclusion, the Court of Appeals cited Regulation 19-415, which was adopted to "fill up the details" of Section 1-11-140. Regulation 19-415.1 states that the Tort Liability Policy was "codified" in the regulations "to provide the public with information regarding the nature, terms, and scope of the insurance which it provides under § 1-11-140 of the 1976 Code." S.C. Code of Regulations R. 19-415.1. The Tort Liability Policy, as codified in the regulations, includes a number of policy exclusions including a pollution exclusion that is nearly identical to the one at issue here. This demonstrates the intent of the General Assembly that policies issued pursuant to Section 1-11-140 by the IRF could include policy exclusions. Thus, with specific reference to this case and as determined by the Court of Appeals, "this inclusion of such a pollution exclusion is strong evidence that the legislature did not intend to preclude the use of such exclusions, even in policies issued pursuant to the Act." (App. 9). Consequently,

⁴ Policy exclusions contained in the IRF Tort Liability Policy, including the pollution exclusion itself, have been addressed and even found applicable by this State's appellate courts. The courts indeed have never found that the IRF lacked the authority to include exclusions in its policy. See e.g., *Greenville County v. Insurance Reserve Fund*, 313 S.C. 546, 443 S.E.2d 552 (1994) (pollution exclusion); *City of Abbeville v. South Carolina Insurance Reserve Fund*, 323 S.C. 60, 448 S.E.2d 779 (Ct. App. 1994) (care, custody and control exclusion); *McPherson v. Michigan Mutual Ins. Co.*, 356 S.C. 156, 588 S.E.2d 112 (2003) (automobile exclusion).

the Court of Appeals was correct in ruling that the pollution exclusion at issue is valid.

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the pollution exclusion at issue is not contrary to any provision of law, including the Tort Claims Act. Quite simply, there is no statutory requirement for the IRF to provide tort liability coverage for all torts for which sovereign immunity has been waived under the Tort Claims Act. Likewise, the IRF is not statutorily precluded from excluding coverage for such risks as pollution or inverse condemnation.⁵

II. The trial court, as affirmed by the Court of Appeals, correctly ruled that the pollution exclusion was applicable to bar coverage for Coley Brown's claims.

The District also contends that the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the pollution exclusion bars coverage for the underlying claims made by Coley Brown.

⁵ The District has not appealed the trial court's ruling that Exclusion (P) bars coverage for the inverse condemnation claim. However, to the extent that is incorrect, the IRF would note that inverse condemnation is not a tort that falls within the scope of the Tort Claims Act. As the Court of Appeals has previously explained, an inverse condemnation action "is not based on tort, but on the constitutional prohibition of the taking of property without compensation." *Horry County v. Insurance Reserve Fund*, 344 S.C. 493, 544 S.E.2d 637, 640 (Ct. App. 2001). *See also, Hawkins v. City of Greenville*, 358 S.C. 280, 594 S.E.2d 557, 562 (Ct. App. 2004). Therefore, even if the Tort Claims Act mandates insurance coverage, as the District seems to argue, that would still provide no basis for requiring the IRF to cover inverse condemnation claims.

The Complaint filed by Coley Brown in Civil Action Number 2010-CP-40-5616 asserts the following causes of action: (1) inverse condemnation, (2) trespass, and (3) negligence. Brown alleges that the District installed an air relief valve or "burp station" across the street from his property and that the air relief valve releases offensive odors "on a daily basis." *See* Complaint, ¶ 12. (R. 22). Brown alleges that the "offensive odors invaded Mr. Brown's property multiple times per day." *See*, Complaint, ¶ 13. (R. 22).

The IRF policy includes an insuring agreement providing as follows: "The Fund will pay on behalf of the insured all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay as damages because of A. Personal Injury or B. Property Damage to which this applies caused by an occurrence." (R. 182). The policy also includes two exclusions that are applicable to the claims brought by Coley Brown, specifically Exclusion (P) which is the inverse condemnation exclusion, and Exclusion (F) which is the pollution exclusion.⁶

As for the trespass and negligence causes of action, Judge Lee correctly ruled that those claims are not covered based upon the pollution exclusion, which provides as follows:

[T]he insurance does not apply to personal injury or property damage arising out of the discharge, dispersal,

⁶ As indicated above, the District has not appealed the bar of coverage pursuant to the inverse condemnation exclusion.

release or escape of smoke, vapors, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, toxic chemicals, liquids or gases, waste materials or other irritant[s], contaminants or pollutants into or upon land, the atmosphere or any water course or body of water, but this exclusion does not apply if such discharge, dispersal, release or escape is sudden and accidental.

(R. 184).

The District contends that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the pollution exclusion applies to the factual scenario presented by the underlying litigation commenced by Coley Brown. The District suggests that the offensive odors from raw sewage do not fall within the scope of a pollution exclusion. The District seems to claim that the "fumes" or "gases" must be "harmful" rather than merely "offensive." Neither the policy language nor applicable case law draws such a distinction, which is truly a matter of semantics.

The pollution exclusion broadly includes "fumes," "gases," "waste materials" and "irritants" within its scope. (R. 184). The word "fumes," in fact, has a dictionary definition of "smoke, vapor or gas especially when irritating or offensive." *See*, Merriam-Webster Dictionary. After noting the dictionary definitions for such terms, Judge Lee concluded that "the odor created by the hydrogen sulfide and other byproducts are gases or fumes that create an irritating atmosphere and are offensive to the neighbors on Westshore Drive." (R. 8). This is an action at law, tried without a jury, and as a result, "the trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless there is no evidence that reasonably supports the

court's findings." *Middleton v. Eubank*, 388 S.C. 8, 694 S.E.2d 31, 34 (Ct. App. 2010). The trial court's finding is amply supported by the following testimony of Larry Brazzell, who is the executive director for the District:

Q. ... And you'd agree with me that hydrogen sulfide is one of the components of the air that is released from the force main through the air relief valves; correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you've testified that hydrogen sulfide smells like rotten eggs?

A. That's right.

Q. And there's another chemical, methane, is also released; correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that's typical of raw sewage giving off those components; correct?

A. Yes, sir.

(R. 102).

In addition, there are cases from other jurisdictions finding similar offensive odors as included within the scope of a pollution exclusion. *See e.g., Wakefield Pork, Inc. v. Ram Mut. Ins. Co.*, 731 N.W.2d 154 (Minn. App. 2007) (offensive odor from pig manure is covered by pollution exclusion); *City of Spokane v. United National Ins. Co.*, 190 F.Supp.2d 1209 (E.D. Wash. 2002) (holding odors from a composting facility were pollutants triggering pollution exclusion); *Kruger*

Commodities, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty, 923 F.Supp. 1474 (M.D. Ala. 1996) (holding "offensive odors" emitted from plant that rendered animal carcasses were pollutants triggering pollution exclusion, even absent evidence the odors contained a toxic chemical or the plant was in violation of environmental laws); *City of Bremerton v. Harbor Ins. Co.*, 92 Wash. App. 17, 963 P.2d 194 (1998) (holding "foul and obnoxious odors and toxic gases" emitted from sewage treatment plant were pollutants triggering the pollution exclusion).

In short, there is no real question that the hydrogen sulfide at issue falls within the scope of the pollution exclusion, and the trial court, as affirmed by the Court of Appeals, was correct in so ruling.

Lastly, the District insists that the "sudden and accidental" exception to the pollution exclusion applies and was proven. In an entirely conclusory manner, the District insists that "the record is replete with evidence, much of it undisputed, that the release of odors was sudden and accidental within the meaning of the policy." *See*, Petitioner's Brief, p. 12. That is not the case. The evidence outlined in the decisions below fully supports the finding that the release of the odors at the air relief valve in question was part of the District's ordinary business operations and was expected to occur.

The "sudden and accidental" exception to the pollution exclusion has been subject to interpretation in the case of *Greenville County v. Insurance Reserve Fund*, 313 S.C. 546, 443 S.E.2d 552 (1994), in which this Court held that the term

"sudden" should be interpreted as "unexpected." Therefore, to assess the applicability of the pollution exclusion, it is necessary to determine whether the discharge or release of the offensive odors was unexpected and accidental. In *Helena Chemical Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 631, 594 S.E.2d 455 (2004), this Court, while applying an identical pollution exclusion, explained that "property damage caused by pollution arising from ordinary business operations is not covered." 594 S.E.2d at 460.

Despite the District's statement to the contrary, the *Helena Chemical* case is not only instructive but controlling. Helena Chemical Company was a pesticide manufacturer. The trial court concluded that the pesticide contamination resulted from the "incidental release of pesticides during the routine operations of grinding pesticide into dust, loading, unloading, bagging and formulating pesticides." 594 S.E.2d at 460. This Court agreed that "the contamination at the various sites was caused by Helena's routine business operations." *Id.* This Court further explained that "routine discharge of pollutants occurred at the various Helena facilities during ordinary operations." 594 S.E.2d at 461. This Court held that "the pollution releases were not unexpected and accidental." 594 S.E.2d at 462. As a result, this Court ruled that "the exception to the pollution exclusion does not apply, and the insurance companies are not liable for the environmental cleanup." *Id.*

The same is true in the present case. Based on the allegations of the Complaint and information readily available to the IRF, the District's discharge of

offensive odors from the air relief valve, which are alleged to have occurred multiple times a day for years, is part of the District's ordinary operations. The very purpose of an air relief valve is to release air from the line, and thus, it is reasonably anticipated and foreseeable that offensive odors will be released. The release of the offensive odors thus cannot be deemed to be sudden and accidental, as those terms have been construed in the cases cited above. The release of the offensive odors is no different from the "routine discharge of pollutants" found by this Court in *Helena Chemical*. Thus, the allegations of the Complaint and the other information available to the IRF lead to one conclusion – which is the very conclusion reached by Judge Lee in the non-jury trial – "that the discharge of the offensive odors from the air relief valve is part of the ordinary operations of the District." (R. 8).

This evidentiary ruling is supported by the testimony from Larry Brazzell, who explained that the District received numerous odor complaints from residents. (R. 100-101). Brazzell also confirmed that the emission of hydrogen sulfide (which has the odor of rotten eggs) from the air relief valve is "not unusual or unexpected" and occurs "many times a day." (R. 102-103). Brazzell further testified as follows:

Q. So when Mr. Brown alleged in his lawsuit that odors are released multiple times a day, assuming that he's correct about the odors, you would agree with that, that that's possible?

- A. That's very possible.
- Q. Because the air relief valve will operate multiple times a day?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And you, meaning East Richland County Public Service District expects that to happen; right?
- A. Yes, sir. It better happen.
- Q. Okay. Because obviously these lines could be compromised if these air release valves don't work; correct?
- A. Right.
- Q. It could create a vacuum?
- A. Well, it would make the line burst. You could put too much pressure on the line and then you'd have raw sewage running down the road.
- Q. Okay.
- A. It has to release that air from that pump cutting on and off. Every time it cuts on and off it forces air into that line.
- Q. So the release of air -- if I understand you correctly, the release of air from the lines then is part of the ordinary operation of that force main?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And the operation of that force main is part of the ordinary operation of the sewage treatment business that East Richland County Public Service District is in; correct?

A. Yes, sir.

(R. 103-104).

Thus, the allegations and information available to the IRF, coupled with the trial testimony of Larry Brazzell, fully support the conclusion that the release of the odors at the air relief valve in question is part of the District's ordinary business operations and is expected to occur. As discussed above, in *Helena Chemical*, this Court, while applying an identical pollution exclusion, explained that "property damage caused by pollution arising from ordinary business operations is not covered." 594 S.E.2d at 460. Consequently, the Court of Appeals and the trial court were correct to conclude that the District has not shown that the exception to the pollution exclusion applies.

III. As an additional sustaining ground, the alleged damages sought by Coley Brown in the underlying action do not qualify as "property damage" as defined by the Tort Liability Policy.

As an additional sustaining ground and coverage defense,⁷ the IRF submits that the alleged damages sought by Coley Brown in Civil Action Number 2010-

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